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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRCIT OF FLORIDA

v 09=20957

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ) _
)
Plaintiff, ) C|V-G RAHAM
)
V. ) ’ TORRES
)
OSVALDO PITTERS, TERRELL J. KUYKENDALL, ) FILED by -ﬂjs- D.C.
and STEVEN M. IVESTER, )
) APR 13 2009
Defendants. ) STEVEN M. LARIMORE
) CLERKU. S.DIST.CT.
S. D. of FLA. - MIAMI

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER RELIEF
Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission alleges:
I. INTRODUCTION

1. Between November 2004 and May 2005, Osvaldo Pitters and Terrell J.
Kuykendall recorded almost $1,400,000 in fictitious revenues from purported computer
hardware sales and management services on the financial statements of VoIP, Inc., a
small, publicly-traded Internet telecommunications company. They recorded the
fictitious sales and services because VoIP’s overall revenue was falling short of the
company’s projections for 2004 and 2005. By recording the false revenue, Pitters and
Kuykendall were able to inflate the revenue VolIP reported, for the third quarter and year
end 2004, and for the first quarter of 2005, by as much as 47%.

2. Steven M. Ivester, VoIP’s Chief Executive Officer, knew VoIP was
struggling financially and that the company’s actual revenues were substantially less than

its projections. Nonetheless, he did not question the suspiciously high revenues that
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Pitters and Kuykendall recorded on VoIP’s financial statements. In addition, between
November 2004 and March 2006, the month VoIP disclosed it had overstated its
revenues, Ivester realized up to $5.2 million in proceeds from selling more than 3.7
million shares of VoIP stock into the market.

3. By engaging in this conduct, Pitters and Kuykendall violated the antifraud
provisions of the Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a), and the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) and 17 C.F.R.
240.10b-5, and Ivester violated Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, 15
U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and (3). Pitters and Kuykendall also aided and abetted VoIP’s
violation of the books and records and internal control provisions of the Exchange Act,
15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(2)(B), and 78m(b)(5), 17 C.F.R. §§
240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-13, 240.13b2-1, and 240.13b2-2. In addition, Ivester
and Pitters violated the officer certification provisions of the Exchange Act, 17 CF.R. §
240.13a-14, and Ivester violated the beneficial ownership reporting provisions of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a) and 17 CF.R. § 240.16a-3.

II. DEFENDANTS

4, Pitters, 50, is a resident of Plantation, Florida. Pitters served as VoIP’s
Chief Financial Officer from May 2004 to October 2005 and its Vice President of
Finance from November 2005 to March 2006. He resigned his position as Vice President
of Finance in March 2006, after VoIP’s new management discovered the fictitious
revenue.

5. Kuykendall, 57, is a resident of Tampa, Florida. From June 2004 to April

2006, VoIP employed Kuykendall as the General Manager of its subsidiary, VCG
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Technologies, Inc. d/b/a DTNet Technologies, Inc. (“DTNet”). VoIP terminated
Kuykendall in April 2006 for recording the fictitious revenue.

6. Ivester, 44, is a resident of Weston, Florida. Ivester served as VolP’s
Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chairman of its Board of Directors from April
2004 to October 2005. In October 2005, Ivester resigned his positions as CEO and
President, and in December 2005 he resigned as Chairman.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 20(b),
20(d), and 22(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77t(b), 77t(d), and 77v(a), and
Sections 21(d), 21(e), and 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78(u)(e), and
78aa.

8. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants and venue is proper
in the Southern District of Florida. Between April 2004 and March 2006, VoIP’s
corporate headquarters were located in the Southern District of Florida, and Defendants
engaged in acts and transactions in the Southern District of Florida that constitute the
violations set forth in this Complaint.

9. Defendants, directly or indirectly, made use of the means or instruments of
interstate commerce, or the means or instruments of transportation and communication in
interstate commerce and the mails in connection with the acts, practices, and courses of

business set forth in this Complaint.
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IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
A. VoIP’s Reporting Obligations

10.  Beginning in April 2004 and continuing through March 2006, VoIP was
engaged in the business of developing, marketing, and selling voice-over-Internet and
other telecommunication services and products. VoIP’s principal offices were located in
Fort Lauderdale, Florida and it employed approximately thirty-five individuals.

11.  During this time period, VoIP’s common stock was registered with the
Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78I(g), and was
quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board under the symbol VOII.

12.  As an issuer of registered securities, VoIP was required to furnish the
Commission with annual and quarterly reports in accordance with Section 13(a) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), and Rules 13a-1 and 13a-13 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§
240.13a-1 and 240.13a-13.

13.  Pursuant to Rule 12b-20 under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.12b-20,
VoIP was required to include in the annual and quarterly reports it furnished the
Commission information that was necessary to make the required statements, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

14.  Additionally, Regulation S-X under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. §§ 1-01
et. seq., required that the financial statements VoIP furnished to the Commission its
annual and quarterly reports be presented in conformity with Generally Accepted

Accounting Principals (“GAAP”).
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B. VolIP’s 2004 Sales Projections for DTNet
15. In June 2004, VoIP, using stock, purchased 100% of DTNet, a small,

private company that sold modems and other computer hardware products. DTNet’s
offices were located in Tampa, Florida and it employed approximately six individuals.
VoIP purchased DTNet from several individuals, including Kuykendall, who at the time
was acting as the company’s bookkeeper. Following the purchase, VoIP elevated
Kuykendall to the position of General Manager of DTNet.

16.  In June and July 2004, VoIP issued and disseminated a press release and
filed with the Commission a Form 8-K projecting DTNet’s annual sales for 2004 would
reach $7.5 million.

17.  In August 2004, VoIP filed with the Commission a quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the three months ended June 30, 2004, again projecting DTNet’s annual
sales for 2004 would reach $7.5 million.

C. Pitters and Kuykendall Record Fictitious DTNet Revenue in 2004

18. Although Pitters, along with Ivester, maintained an office in VoIP’s
offices in Fort Lauderdale, and Kuykendall maintained an office in DTNet’s offices in
Tampa, Kuykendall and Pitters communicated regularly by telephone and e-mail.

19.  Pitters prepared and compiled VoIP’s consolidated financial statements.
Those financial statements reflected the financial performance of VoIP and all of its
subsidiaries, including its wholly owned subsidiary DTNet.

20.  Kuykendall prepared and compiled DTNet’s financial reports which he

forwarded to Pitters for incorporation into VoIP’s consolidated financial statements.
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21.  After it was acquired by VoIP, DTNet’s sales fell because it did not have
cash to purchase inventory and because of technical deficiencies with VoIP’s voice-over-
Internet system, among other things. Because DTNet was not paying its vendors, the
company was not obtaining any new products.

22. As of September 30, 2004, DTNet had revenues of no more than $1.4
million, most of which it had earned prior to VoIP acquiring it in June 2004. As of
November 2004, DTNet had generated at most $400,000 since being acquired. By no
later than the fall of 2004, Pitters and Kuykendall knew that DTNet’s sales for year-end
2004 would be substantially less than the $7.5 million VoIP had projected. Kuykendall
had also warned Pitters during the due diligence process prior to VoIP’s purchase of
DTNet that $3 million in sales was the best the company could hope to accomplish in
2004.

23. In response to the significant shortfall between DTNet’s actual and
projected sales, Pitters directed Kuykendall to inflate DTNet’s revenues by recording
fictitious revenues on DTNet’s financial reports.

24.  Between October 2004 and March 2005, Kuykendall recorded on DTNet’s
books and records approximately $791,200 in fictitious revenue from the purported sale
of computer hardware and management services to at least six companies as of December
31, 2004. Five of these companies were controlled by the former majority owner of
DTNet, and the sixth company was controlled by a friend of Kuykendall’s. In addition,
Kuykendall performed bookkeeping services for some or all of these companies.

25.  Although this fictitious revenue was not nearly enough to meet VoIP’s

previous sales projections for DTNet in 2004, it did have the effect of falsely inflating
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VoIP’s overall revenue figures by 47% for the third quarter of 2004 and by 43% for the
year ended December 31, 2004.
D. Pitters and Kuykendall Report Fictitious DTNet Sales Again in 2005

26.  In November 2004, VoIP filed a quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
three months ended September 30, 2004, projecting DTNet’s annual sales for 2005 would
again reach $7.5 million.

27.  Already by March 2005, Pitters and Kuykendall knew, based on the sales
to date and continuing problems, that DTNet was not likely to meet VoIP’s sales
projections for 2005, just as it had failed to do so in 2004.

28.  Pitters again directed Kuykendall to inflate DTNet’s performance by
recording fictitious revenue on DTNet’s financial reports.

29 Between March and May 2005, Kuykendall recorded approximately
$605,317 in fictitious revenue from the sale of computer hardware and management
services to the same six related companies as of March 31, 2003.

30.  This fictitious revenue had the effect of inflating VoIP’s overall revenue
by 43% for the first quarter of 2005.

E. Pitters and Kuykendall Cause VoIP to Materially
Overstate Its Consolidated Revenues For 2004 and 2005

31.  After Kuykendall recorded the fictitious revenues on DTNet’s financial
statements, Pitters incorporated them in VoIP’s consolidated financial statements, thus
inflating VoIP’s consolidated revenues for 2004 and the first quarter of 2005.

32.  Pitters, who prepared and compiled the reports VoIP filed with the
Commission, included the inflated revenues in a Form 10-K and two Form 10-Qs VoIP

furnished to the Commission for 2004 and 2005.
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33.  InNovember 2004, VoIP filed with the Commission a quarterly report and
consolidated financial statements on Form 10-Q showing consolidated revenues of
$929,767 for the nine months ended September 30, 2004. In fact, VoIP’s consolidated
revenues through the third quarter 2004 were only $633,183, and were overstated in the
report as a result of the fictitious DTNet hardware sales and management services
recorded by Pitters and Kuykendall.

34.  In March 2005, VoIP filed with the Commission an annual report and
consolidated financial statements on Form 10-K reflecting consolidated revenues of
$2,619,393 as of the year ended December 31, 2004. In fact, VoIP’s consolidated annual
revenues for 2004 were only $1,828,193 and were overstated in the report as a result of
the fictitious DTNet hardware sales and management services recorded by Pitters and
Kuykendall.

35. In May 2005, VoIP filed with the Commission a quarterly report and
consolidated financial statements on Form 10-Q reflecting consolidated revenues of
$2,007,147 as of the three months ended March 31, 2005. In fact, VoIP’s consolidated
revenues for the first quarter of 2005 were only $1,402,469 and were overstated in the
report as a result of the fictitious DTNet hardware sales and management services
recorded by Pitters and Kuykendall.

F. Pitters Falsely Certifies VoIP’s Reports are Accurate and
Provides VoIP’s Independent Auditors with Falsified Financial Records

36.  Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14, required
Pitters, while serving as VoIP’s CFO, to certify in writing the reports and financial

statements VoIP filed with the Commission were accurate.
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37.  Although he knew they reflected fictitious revenues, Pitters certified in
writing the accuracy of the annual and quarterly reports VolIP filed with the Commission
for the third quarter and year end 2004, and for first quarter of 2005.

38.  Pitters also provided, and directed Kuykendall and others to provide,
ledgers, journals, and invoices he knew reflected fictitious revenues to VoIP’s
independent auditors in connection with their audit of VoIP’s financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2004. Kuykendall also provided falsified audit confirmation
letters to VoIP’s outside auditors.

G. Ivester Was or Should Have Been Aware the Revenue
VoIP Reported In Its Filings Was Suspiciously High

39.  Ivester participated in drafting and reviewed the annual and quarterly
reports VoIP filed with the Commission for the third quarter and year end 2004, and for
first quarter of 2005.

40.  Ivester was in possession of information indicating the revenue figures
contained in VoIP’s filings with the Commission were suspiciously high and inaccurate.

41.  Ivester directed and supervised all of VoIP’s day-to-day business
operations in 2004 and 2005. He knew VoIP was struggling financially because of
technical problems with its voice-over-Internet systems that made its telecommunication
services unattractive to paying users. Ivester also knew DTNet’s sales were down
because of a lack of customers using VoIP’s telecommunications services who might also
purchase DTNet’s hardware products.

42.  Ivester controlled VoIP’s bank accounts and the bank accounts for VoIP’s
subsidiaries, including DTNet. He also regularly reviewed bank statements for the

accounts and VoIP’s consolidated bank reconciliations. Ivester therefore knew or should
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have known the revenues DTNet was reporting were significantly higher than its cash
deposits and receipts.

43,  Ivester regularly reviewed VoIP’s consolidated accounts payable reports.
He also authorized and directed which bills and debts VolIP and its subsidiaries paid.
Ivester therefore knew DTNet was not paying its vendors and, as a consequence, was
unable to purchase inventory to increase its sales.

44. In November 2004, Ivester demonstrated his knowledge of DTNet’s
lagging sales in a telephone call he made to Kuykendall. During the call, Ivester
expressed his concern that DTNet had generated only between $300,000 and $400,000 in
revenues since VoIP acquired the company in June 2004. Ivester also told Kuykendall
that DTNet “needed to hit $1 million in sales” by December 31, 2004, and asked him “to
see what [he] could do” about making that figure.

45. The lackluster sales of VoIP’s telecommunication services, the significant
difference between DTNet’s reported revenues and its cash deposits and receipts,
DTNet’s unpaid vendor bills and limited inventory, and Ivester’s telephone call to
Kuykendall all suggested the revenues reflected in the reports VoIP filed with the
Commission for the third quarter and year end 2004, and for first quarter of 2005 were
inexplicably high and inaccurate.

46.  Nonetheless, Ivester failed to question the veracity of the suspicious
revenue figures and filed or directed others to file VoIP’s Form 10-Q and Form 10-K for
the third quarter and year end 2004, and the Form 10-Q for the first quarter 2005. As

VoIP’s CEOQ, Ivester also certified in writing the reports were accurate.

10
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H. VoIP’s New Management Discovers the Overstated Revenues

47. In October 2005, Ivester resigned his positions as VoIP’s CEO and
President, and Pitters was demoted from CFO to Vice President of Finance.

48.  Between November 2005 and February 2006, VoIP’s new CEO and CFO
discovered the fictitious DTNet sales and revenues.

49.  In March 2006, VoIP filed a Form 8-K with the Commission publicly
disclosing the overstatements in its previously reported sales and revenues.

L Ivester’s Undisclosed Stock Sales

50.  Between April 2004 and November 2005, Ivester realized proceeds of
approximately $4.4 million by selling more than 4 million shares of VoIP common stock
into the market.

51. Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a), and Rule 16a-3
thereunder, 17 CF.R. § 240.16a-3, require owners of more than 10% of any class of
equity securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78I,
and every officer and director of an issuer with a class of equity securities that is
registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act, to report all sales of such
securities by filing a Form 4 with the Commission by the end of the second business day
after each transaction.

52.  Between April 2004 and December 2005, Ivester served as an officer and
director of VoIP. During the same time period, he also owned more than 10% of VoIP’s
outstanding common stock. Ivester was therefore required to disclose all of the stock
sales he made between April 2004 and December 2005 by filing a Form 4 with the

Commission within two days of each transaction. However, he never filed the required

11
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forms until VoIP was under new management and he had resigned as an officer and
director of the company. On December 30, 2005, Ivester filed multiple Forms 4 with the
Commission disclosing for the first time that he had sold 4,011,089 shares of VoIP
through November 2005.

53.  Between January and March 2006, the month VoIP disclosed the
overstatements in its previously reported revenues, Ivester realized an additional
$833,926 in proceeds from selling 490,000 more shares of VoIP common stock into the
market.

COUNTI

Pitters and Kuykendall Violated Section 17(a)(1) of the Securities Act

54.  The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

55. From at least November 2004 to March 2006, Pitters and Kuykendall,
directly and indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce and by use of the mails, in the offer or sale of
securities, as described in this Complaint, knowingly, willfully, or recklessly employed
devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud.

56. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters and Kuykendall, directly or indirectly,
violated and, unless enjoined, are likely to continue to violate Section 17(a)(1) of the

Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(1).

12
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COUNT 11

Pitters, Kuykendall, and Ivester
Violated Sections 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act

57.  The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

58. From at least November 2004 to March 2006, Pitters, Kuykendall, and
Ivester, directly and indirectly, by use of the means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce and by the use of the mails, in the offer or sale of
securities, as described in this Complaint: (a) obtained money or property by means of
untrue statements of material facts and omissions to state material facts necessary to
make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading; and/or (b) engaged in transactions, practices, and courses of business
which operated or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such
securities.

59. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters, Kuykendall, and Ivester, directly or
indirectly, violated and, unless enjoined, are likely to continue to violate Sections
17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 77q(a)(2) and 77q(a)(3).

COUNT III
Pitters and Kuykendall Violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-§

60. The Commission repeats and realleges Paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

6l1. From at least November 2004 to March 2006, Pitters and Kuykendall,
directly or indirectly, by use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce,

and of the mails, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, as described in this

13
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Complaint, knowingly, willfully or recklessly: (a) employed devices, schemes, or
artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material facts and omitted to state
material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and/or (c) engaged in acts,
practices, and courses of business which have operated or would operate as a fraud upon
the purchasers of such securities.

62. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters and Kuykendall, directly or indirectly,
violated and, unless enjoined, are likely to continue to violate Section 10(b) of the
Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

COUNT 1V

Pitters and Kuykendall Aided and Abetted VoIP’s Violations of
Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13

63. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

64.  Between November 2004 and May 2005, VoIP filed with the Commission
an annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004, and quarterly
reports on Forms 10-Q for the three months ended September 30, 2004, and the three
months ended March 31, 2005, that each overstated VoIP’s revenues by more than 40%.
VoIP therefore violated Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), and
Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and
240.13a-13.

65. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters and Kuykendall aided and abetted

VolIP’s violations of Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(a), and Rules

14
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12b-20, 13a-1, and 13a-13 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, and 240.13a-
13.
COUNT V

Pitters and Kuykendall Aided and Abetted VoIP’s
Violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act

66. The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

67. From at least November 2004 to March 2006, VoIP failed to make and
keep, books, records, and accounts, which in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflected the transactions and dispositions of VoIP’s assets. VoIP therefore violated
Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(2)(A).

68. From at least November 2004 to March 2006, VoIP failed to devise and
maintain a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable
assurances that: (1) transactions were executed in accordance with management’s general
or specific authorization; (2) transactions were recorded as necessary (a) to permit
preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP or any other criteria
applicable to such statements or (b) to maintain accountability of assets; (3) access to
assets was permitted only in accordance with management’s general or specific
authorization; or (4) the recorded accountability for assets was compared with existing
assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action was taken with respect to any
differences. VolIP therefore violated Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C.

§ 78m(b)(2)(B).

15
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69. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters and Kuykendall aided and abetted
VolIP’s violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A) and (B).

COUNT VI

Pitters and Kuykendall Violated
Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act and Rule 13b2-1

70.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

71.  From at least November 2004 to March 2006, Pitters and Kuykendall
knowingly circumvented VoIP’s internal accounting controls or knowingly failed to
implement a system of internal accounting controls for VoIP, and knowingly falsified
books, records, or accounts subject to Section 13(b)(2) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §
78m(b)(2).

72. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters and Kuykendall violated Section
13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m(b)(5), and Rule 13b2-1 thereunder, 17
C.F.R. § 240.13b2-1.

COUNT VI
Pitters Violated Rule 13b2-2 under the Exchange Act

73.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

74. From at least November 2004 to March 2006, Pitters, directly or
indirectly, made or caused to be made materially false or misleading statements or
omitted to state, or caused another person to omit to state, material facts necessary in

order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such

16
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statements were made, not misleading, to an accountant in connection with an audit,
review, or examination of VoIP’s financial statements or the filing of reports required to
be filed with the Commission.

75. By reason of the foregoing, Pitters violated Rule 13b2-2 under the
Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13b2-2.

COUNT VIII
Ivester and Pitters Violated Rule 13a-14 Under the Exchange Act

76.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 49 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

77. Between November 2004 and May 2005, in an annual report filed on
Form 10-K and quarterly reports filed on Forms 10-Q, Ivester and Pitters falsely certified
that to the best of their knowledge there was no untrue statement of material fact or
omission of a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

78. By reason of the foregoing, Ivester and Pitters violated Rule 13a-14 under
the Exchange Act, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13a-14.

COUNT IX
Ivester Violated Section 16(a) of the Exchange and Rule 16a-3

79.  The Commission repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 through 53 of this
Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

80. Between April 2004 and December 2005, Ivester, who was an officer and
director of VoIP, and a principal shareholder who owned more than 10% of a registered

class of equity securities of VoIP, failed to file reports with the Commission disclosing

17
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his ownership interests in VoIP securities and changes of ownership interests in those
securities in accordance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a), and
Rule 16a-3 thereunder, 17 CF.R. § 240.16a-3.
81. By reason of the foregoing, Ivester violated Section 16(a) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a), and Rule 16a-3 thereunder, 17 CF.R. § 240.16a-3.
RELIEF REQUESTED
WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court:
L.
Declaratory Relief

Declare, determine, and find that Pitters, Kuykendall, and Ivester have committed

the violations of the federal securities laws alleged in this Complaint.
IL
Permanent Injunctive Relief

Issue a Permanent Injunction enjoining:

(A) Pitters from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. §
77q(a), and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)(2)(B), and §78m(b)(5), and
Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-13, 13a-14, 13b2-1, and 13b2-2 thereunder, 17 C.F.R.
§§ 240.10b-5, 240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-13, 240.13a-14, 240.13b2-1 and
240.13b2-2;

(B)  Kuykendall from violating Section 17(a) of the Securities Act, 15US.C. §
77q(a), and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A), 13(b)(2)(B), and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange

Act, 15 US.C. §§ 78i(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A), 78m(b)2)(B), and §78m(b)(5), and
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Rules 10b-5, 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-13, and 13b2-1 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5,
240.12b-20, 240.13a-1, 240.13a-13, and 240.13b2-1; and
(C)  Ivester from violating Section 17(a)(2) and 17(a)(3) of the Securities Act,
15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)(2) and (3), and Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78p(a),
and Rules 13a-14 and 16a-3 thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.13a-14 and 240.16a-3.
IIL.
Disgorgement with Prejudgment Interest
Issue an Order directing Pitters, Kuykendall, and Ivester to each disgorge all
profits or proceeds they received as a result of the acts and/or courses of conduct
complained of herein, with prejudgment interest.
IV.
Civil Money Penalties
Issue an Order directing Pitters, Kuykendall, and Ivester to each pay a civil
money penalty pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and
Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)].
V.

Officer and Director Bar

Issue an Order permanently barring Pitters from acting as an officer or director of
a publicly-held company pursuant to Section 21(d)(2) of the Exchange Act, 5 U.S.C.
§ 78u(d)(2).
VL
Further Relief

Grant such other relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate.
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VIL
Retention of Jurisdiction
Further, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court retain jurisdiction
over this action in order to implement and carry out the terms of all orders and decrees
that may hereby be entered, or to entertain any suitable application or motion by the

Commission for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court.

Respectfully submitted,

April 13, 2009 By: . /'f"'” /djl‘/

C. Ian Anderson

Senior Trial Counsel

New York Reg. No. 2693067
Direct Dial: (305) 982-6317

E-mail: andersonci@sec.gov

Lead Counsel

Attorney for Plaintiff
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800
Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone: (305) 982-6300
Facsimile: (305) 536-4154
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